Former Prospect Hill Library
2322 Buena Vista

**History**

The building opened as the Prospect Hill Library in 1930 (SA Express, 9/16/1930). In 1935, the library was enlarged with additions and alterations (SA Express, 10/6/1935). In 1950, an article stated that the “Prospect Hill Taxpayers League…will soon complete the deal with the city parks department in regard to obtaining full charge of the Prospect Hill Library and auditorium building” (SA Express, 8/11/1950). A new recreation center was opened in the library building in 1951 (SA Express, 12/16/51). A 1957 article stated, “City Manager Matthews has promised the Prospect Hill Library auditorium will be cleaned and renovated for use by organizations in that area” (SA Light 2/22/1957). In 1962, an article mentioned that “work started in February on a program of remodeling and repairs for the Prospect Hill Branch Library Building” and library operations were to be transferred to a mobile book unit while the repairs and renovations were going on (SA Light 4/22/1962). A new library at Las Palmas was completed in 1969 to replace this structure. Beginning in 1980, WIC has had offices in the building. Today it remains the administrative offices of WIC.

The words “San Antonio Public Library Prospect Hill Branch” are embossed on the façade above the main entrance. The building reflects minimal Art Deco stylistic influences.

**Public Comments**

- Important in the community over many years
- Beautiful building
- Its longstanding use as a community gathering place for learning, recreations, art, and health
- As a very young girl I walked to the library and learned about the beauty of reading.
- Another wonderful building that served the Westside community children – has no obvious reason for destroying.

**Eligibility Criteria**

**Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1]** a lasting reminder of the Prospect Hill neighborhood and its history serving the community as a public library;

**Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5]** an example of 1930s institutional architecture reflecting minimal Art Deco influences;

**Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8]**;
Mexican American Unity Council/Former Crockett Elementary
2300 W. Commerce

History

Main building constructed in 1911 of stone, brick and reinforced concrete as Crockett Public School No. 11. (1911-1924 Sanborn, vol. 4, sheet 397). Replaced an earlier one-story David Crockett school on the same site that was there by at least 1904. Large rear 2-story additions added in 1930 (1911-1951 Sanborn, vol. 4, sheet 397). Purchased by Mexican American Unity Council in 1976. In 1977, the San Antonio Light mentioned that a new library would be named for the late Isabel Bazan, who had worked at the Main Library for more than 35 years (SA Light 3/16/1977). The new Isabel Bazan branch library was located in the Crockett School (SA Light, May, 11, 1977).

Public Comments

- School in Prospect Hill area. Education in Westside.
- The MAUC founded many orgs. in town – historic!
- Great example of neoclassical, popular in Mexico before revolution
- Great regal building – none of these left must save
- Schools built with character and developed character!
- They did a wonderful restoration on the building. It’s not like any school I ever went to.
- An excellent specimen of its style and a tremendous history as a school, Bazan library, and home to MAUC!
- My youngest brother attended in the ’30s.

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] its lengthy history as an educational institution within the Westside community and later for its services provided through the Mexican American Unity Council;

Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] an outstanding example of the early 20th century Beaux Arts style applied to an educational facility;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] its location along the busy commercial corridor of W. Commerce Street;

Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8] Despite incorporation of modern replacement windows, the building continues to reflect its original Beaux Arts classicism and remains largely intact on the exterior.

It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12] an imposing example of Beaux Arts classicism of the early 20th century applied to an educational facility.
Keyhole Club
1619 W. Poplar

History

This was actually the second Keyhole Club to open. The first one Don Albert opened was at 728 Iowa. It was located in a building previously occupied by the Ritz Theatre. The club operated from 1944 to 1948. It was patronized by a racially mixed crowd which subjected it to constant police harassment.

The second club opened in 1950 in a fairly new building. The owners were Willie "Red" Winner and Don Albert. Don Albert, a Creole trumpeter and bandleader, managed the club. The audience again was an integrated crowd. Police harassment continued. In 1951, Fire and Police Commissioner Roper threatened the club with closure. Reasons cited were faulty roof construction and other safety violations. The owners went to court thus Winner vs. Roper. From a restraining order issued by the 37th District Court of Bexar Co. all the way to the Texas Supreme Court, the case was finally settled in favor of the club. The club continued to be under the constant watch of city officials. This was all before the civil rights movement and tested the racial climate of the city. The club eventually closed in 1964.

File images: Photocopy of folder for souvenir photo taken by Eugene Coleman at Key Hole Club in 1950s. Folder mentions "air conditioned" and "star studded sepia stage show" with images of dancing ladies. Historic photo of Joe Louis and others seated at a table in Key Hole Club ca. 1956. Others in photo include singer Norman Dunlap, Albert ("Don Albert") Dominique and Willie ("Red") Winner, owners of the club, and Eugene Johnson, who seated nightclub customers. Another historic photo shows Nat King Cole and wife, Maria Hawkins Ellington, standing at entrance to Key Hole Club in Nov. 27, 1955. They were at the nightclub gathering following Cole's performance with Duke Ellington at the Majestic Theater for showing of the move "Rock 'N Roll Revue." Another photo from ca. 1940s shows customers standing outside at the ticket window and on the front entrance steps of the club. Key Hole signage, "keyhole" motif, and musical notes in neon adorn the façade. Ca. 1955 photo shows façade and parking lot, with building outlined in neon lights and same signage, "keyhole" motif, and musical notes. (Source ITC).

Public Comments

- Important jazz club. Integrated audience.
- Great design and Texas music history
- Love the curves!
- Jazz in Westside.
- I remember the Keyhole on the front door. Very important because of integration before it became the law.
- It represents San Antonio's cultural link to the jazz greats who performed there....Miles Davis, John Coltrane, etc.
- The Keyhole is a place of musical memories.
- Arts & race integration history are important to commemorate. We've already lost the Blue Bonnet Hotel.

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] a significant part of San Antonio's musical history and its lengthy association with racially mixed audiences prior to the Civil Rights movement.
Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] an unusual building with an elaborate “Mission” influenced parapet;

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; as a long-standing San Antonio music venue with a historically racially diverse audience, unusual in the days before the Civil Rights movement.
3103 W. Commerce

History

The present building was completed in 1929 for Leppard Motors Co. (Willys-Knight and Whippet dealers) as an auto sales and service facility. J.A. Leppard and his sister operated the dealership and had been in the garage business at a location next door for 13 years prior, known as the Hill Top Garage. The newspaper article included a photo of the exterior and interior showroom with several cars on display. According to the article, the building included a repair shop with car lift, electric car washer and a service/parts department. Per the article, the building announced its new opening on March 5th, 1929. Earlier article (8-12-1928, San Antonio Express) mentioned contract was let for $14,875 for construction of new building for Hill Top Garage. H. A. Miller was awarded general contract (??-article very difficult to read, poor quality scan). Possibly says L. Barrington Co. (??) are architects/engineers.

City directory research indicates that in 1924-25, 3701 and 3705 W. Commerce was Hill Top Garage and Grocery (although this would have been in a previous structure(s) on the site). The property is listed as Leppard Motor Co. from 1929 through at least 1941. At that time and through at least 1961), the adjoining property to the west at 3705 ½ was a 2-story building known as the Prospect Hill Lodge No. 1247 AF & AM (this structure is no longer standing). In 1951, 1955, and 1960 the property at 3701 W. Commerce is listed as Leppard Lumber Co. The structure is not identified on the 1911 Sanborn, but is identified on the 1951 Sanborn (vol. 1, sheet 7) with the former Lodge building adjoining it to the west. The Sanborn shows front canopy and a rear addition that extends to rear edge of lot.

Public Comments

- Beautiful building in the middle of Westside. Love it.
- Great design
- Beautiful architecture. I knew it had been a lumber company at one time. Don’t see many buildings like this in the Westside.
- It was the mid-way point for people living around Commerce and Gen. McMullen who walked to town. You could stop and purchase a soft drink and get out of the heat for a while.
- So little is left of the Commerce/Zarzamora intersection that was such a lively place in ’50s.
- Great example of drive-thru facility – beautiful architecture.

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] an architecturally significant former automobile dealership/garage along the busy commercial corridor of W. Commerce Street and one of the most elaborate of this resource type remaining on the Westside;

Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] reflection of early 20th century Mission/Spanish Eclectic style auto dealership/garage;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make if an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] its elaborate design and location along the busy commercial corridor of W. Commerce Street;
Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8];

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; distinctive as an architecturally significant former auto dealership garage along a major Westside commercial corridor;

It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12] an important example of an early 20th century Mission/Spanish Eclectic style former garage/auto dealership.
Former Progresso Drugstore (Guadalupe Cultural Arts Center)
1302 Guadalupe

History

The present appearance of the commercial structure represents the last phase of building on the site that was completed ca. the mid 1940s. The structure represents a “truly unique blend of early 20th century commercial Mexican and American architectural styles.” The building is clad with blue glazed tile, providing a unified façade to what is actually a series of construction phases below. Per the 1986 survey, the façade includes a “series of hand painted tile panoramas, 12 tiles each, depicting various unidentified scenes in Mexico.” The building is currently owned by the Guadalupe Cultural Arts Center. (Villa de Guadalupe Historic Resources Assessment, Andrew Perez Associates, 1986).

Public Comments

- Great example of commercial architecture with Mexican aesthetics
- Architecture and cultural office
- A botica and vital part of commercial area.
- Great façade
- Start of Southwest Voters-2nd floor – Willie Velasquez
- It was also a botica at one time. The building next to it on Brazos looks to have a rooftop patio.
- Gateway to the “Westside.” You knew you were home once you saw this uniquely tile building.
- Beautiful tile work and a great place for youth.
- Important site in cultural renaissance of Westside.
- Architecturally very strong presence with a record of great community service to Westside.

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] an architecturally significant commercial building at an important “gateway” intersection at Guadalupe and Brazos Streets on San Antonio’s near Westside;

Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] reflection of early 20th commercial design fusing Mexican and American styles, including blue tile cladding, glass block, decorative painted tiles depicting scenes in Mexico, and an awning that wraps the building;

Its historical, architectural, or cultural character as a particularly fine or unique example of a utilitarian or commercial structure [35-5607(b)6] a unique blending of architectural styles on the building façade providing unity to a collection of separate buildings;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make if an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] its eclectic design (fusion of Mexican and American styles) and its location at a key “gateway” intersection into San Antonio’s Westside;
Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8];

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; distinctive as an architecturally significant commercial building reflecting a blending of both Mexican and American styles;

It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12] an important example of an early 20th century commercial structure fusing Mexican and American styles into a cohesive cladding encompassing a series of separate buildings below.
Building
1001 N. San Marcos (401 Arbor Place)

**History**

Sanborn Maps: - street of Arbor Place formerly known as Lopez.
1911 Sanborn – two one-story dwellings on property (vol. 1, sheet 51) – 401 & 403 Lopez
1951 Sanborn – current building on map, tile with brick along streets, other walls tile, two-story, listed as store, address of 401 Arbor Pl.; one-story dwelling at west on same lot with address of 403 (same footprint as 1911 Sanborn)
City directories: 1929-30: T. Git Ng (Mamie Wah) – gro; 1940-41 Rio Grande Bar; no listing in 1951; 1955 Bertha’s Place Bar; 1960 R & L Bar.
Operated as Chinese Grocery (known at Git Grocery) through at least 1931; later references to Git Grocery list it at 3705 W. Commerce.
*San Antonio Light* 1931-1-14: agents seized “a large quantity of ‘bottled in bond’ liquor after officers were forced to batter down a door at 401 Arbor Place.
*San Antonio Express* 1931-2-5: “Action to padlock 401 Arbor Place, where prohibition officers battered in a grated door with an ax on Jan. 7th, has been brought in Federal District Courts…..LeRoy Patten, alias Roy Moore, is the defendant alleged to have been operating the “bar” over the Chinese grocery on Jan. 7. It is alleged in statement by officers that entrance could be gained only by password, and that slot machines and a cash register were among the paraphernalia…Officers said they took a ledger that contained the names of 1,500 customers, and that six other books contained the passwords for 2,000 customers. “

**Public Comments**

- Definitely KEEP this structure intact/interesting interior, was social center for the neighborhood for decades & basement
- Nice history
- Bookend to residential area. Need to keep. If this building goes the entire block is gone.
- Structure has lots of character.
- “Redeemable” has not been ruined by poor additions, has “charm” and presence
- Favors New Orleans porches!
- Wow! What a checkered past. Important reference to prohibition.
- Interesting relic of prohibition but also areas cherished past (see “West of the Creek”)
- Typical of old businesses and boarding houses of past – good history – need more research.

**Eligibility Criteria**

*Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1]* its association as a former Chinese grocery store and as a significant early 20th century 2-story commercial structure in a largely residential context;

*Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make if an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7]* its location along the railroad tracks;
It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; distinctive as an intact example of an early 20th century commercial building that served a variety of commercial functions, including as a Chinese grocery, within the Westside community;

It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12] a significant remaining example of an early 20th century commercial structure with upper balcony.
Malt House Restaurant
115 S. Zarzamora

History

SA Light 1955-4-23: photo of “ultra modern Malt House” and article about “McEwen’s Fried Chicken Dinner” – “a package containing a complete, ready prepared, delicious meal that needs only to be heated and served. First package of its kind to originate in the Southwest, it is a product of the ultra-modern Malt House at 115 S. Zarzamora.” “in ready prepared packages, the first to offer a complete fried chicken dinner in the southwest is a San Antonio firm…owned and operated by two brothers, D.J. and H.S. McEwen, the Malt House represents 35 years of experience and development in its field…..The Malt House, parent operation, is now located in an attractive new building just completed in January of this year. It had previously been operating on the same corner since 1947.”

SA Light 1959-10-31: “McEwen’s famous Malt House at 115 S. Zarzamora rocketed to popularity featuring half a fried chicken for 50 cents, which it still does, and has since added a number of equally spectacular dining treats…..any number of fried chicken picnic or party orders…have the equipment and personnel to turn out as many as 400 orders of half a chicken each in less than an hour.” (with photo of cooks at vats)

SA Light 1959-5-23: photo of Malt House, “the big, attractive dining room at the Malt House is air-conditioned for the comfort of hundreds of patrons who come to the popular place for regular meals or late evening snacks…. The McEwen brothers have been connected with food preparation and service for many years, having opened the Malt House in 1946.

Public Comments

- Neighborhood gathering place.
- The Malt House has been an important cultural site for fun and socializing – and politicizing! Please save it.
- A favorite for many years.
- Malts, onion rings, and the “fritters” all go hand in hand with this place.
- Favorite – 3 pieces of chicken, fries, biscuit and honey for 45 cents!
- May have history – needs a cleanup in and out!
- Many years of service to the community.
- Great food and inexpensive
- Seems like just about everyone in the Westside has some memory of the Malt House. Place to meet with friends.
- It drove its competitor “Paul Maries” out of business. A testament to the strength of its strong community cultural ties
- Best place to get lunch in the Westside
- Malt House IS the Westside
- Malt House baby – nothing beats it on the Westside – lots of love
- A Westside institution – unico! Lots of history that needs to be written.

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] its association as a longstanding eating establishment on the city’s Westside for over 50 years;
Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] its location along the busy commercial corridor of S. Zarzamora and the fact that it has remained the same restaurant for over 50 years;

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; distinctive as a long-standing restaurant institution on the City’s Westside.
1601 Guadalupe St.

**History**

This property first appears in 1924 and was owned by Jesus & Trinidad Trevino. He was a truck driver and remained the owner/resident until 1929. His wife Trinidad became the owner on his death. In 1934 she was listed as a seamstress for Jos Fallick, who owned a second-hand army goods store on 214 S. Comal. In 1942 she was then listed as a seamstress for Radio Cap Co. In 1946 she was a machine operator at the same location, and in 1948 she was an employee for Ace Manufacturing Company. Trinidad remained the property owner until 1955.

The first appearance of its use as a commercial structure is in 1951. Trinidad remained the owner, but there was the addition of the Paris Barber Shop owned by Diego Arevalo. It remained this way until 1955 when the barber shop changed management/ownership to Jaime Trevino. Also, in 1958 the name changed to Rene Barber shop under Rene Trevino.

From 1960 through 1965 it became the Paris Coiffeurs as well as the Rene Barber Shop, both run under the same management. From 1965 to 1970, Paris Coiffeurs disappeared, leaving only the barber shop and Trinidad. By 1970, ownership had finally transferred to Rene, but this only lasted until 1974. In 1974 a Jesus Trevino (or Trevion) became the owner. The barber shop name also changed to Jesus Barber shop, and remained this way until 1983 when it reverted to Rene Barbershop once again. In 1988, Rene Trevino became the property owner again until at least 2002, if not through the present. *(Cultural Survey/Esperanza pg 20)*

**Public Comments**

- Commercial corridor of growing community.
- Was Rene’s “Paris Barber Shop.” He opened it after he returned from WWII. Loved Paris/spoke French and started French club at Brackenridge H.S…has been renovated and will be a mini food establishment – it’s gorgeous!
- Shows how buildings served many purposes. They were transformed as needed.
- Nice example of home & business structure of ‘30s in Westside.

**Eligibility Criteria**

*Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1]* as a remaining example of an early 20th century residential turned commercial structure that was once a prevalent building type throughout the Westside;

*Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make if an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7]* its location along the busy commercial corridor of Guadalupe Street, and one of the remaining historic residential/commercial structures along this corridor;

*It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11];* distinctive as a remaining example of an early 20th century residential turned commercial building that has recently been adaptively rehabilitated.
History

Rachel Delgado, WPA interviewed Olga Elizondo Perez, second generation owner, about the family flower shop. The third generation also helps run the business founded in 1924. Olga said that up to the mid 30s, cattle were still herded down Castroville Rd. on the way to the stockyards. When this happened, they had to rush to bring in the tubs of flowers. The original house was added on to and is part of what is 445 Castroville Rd. The Belgian farms came up to Castroville Rd where the cemetery and the Las Palmas Shopping Center are now.

Olga Elizondo Perez’s story (from her email): “Since 1921 when Juan and Margarita Elizondo were forced by Mother Nature (the big flood of September 1921) to move to higher ground. That was a lot on Castroville Rd. which they paid $100 for. Mr. and Mrs. Elizondo had to work pretty hard in order to make the payments. A humble house was built at which Margarita would later add plants and flowers. About that time, San Fernando Cemetery #2 opened. When people visiting the graves saw her yard, they would stop and ask about buying some of her flowers. She would end up selling a big armful of flowers for 5 or 10 cents. So that's how it all started. I say with a lot of pride and love to everything and of serving our community for all this time. We paid our first business license about 1928. Isn't that wonderful. We love San Antonio and our community!”

Public Comments

- Business grew on commercial corridor for Westside community. Three generations.
- It's Westside and supports cemeteries.
- The family service is of great value.
- Thanks to San Antonio and our Westside community for giving the opportunity to serve you with great pride from 1925 to the present, our humble business will be there to carry on. Thanks again, Elizondo’s / Alga Elizondo Perez
- The original shotgun house is inside the building. An original wall can be seen from a workroom.
- It exists for our “ante-pasados” who are buried at San Fernando Cemetery. The affordable flowers and wreaths sold at Elizondo’s allowed us to show our respect to our deceased relatives and friends.

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] its lengthy history as a local business providing flowers to the community and for visitors to San Fernando Cemetery No. 2;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] its long time service as a local flower market and its local along the commercial corridor of Castroville Road in close proximity to San Fernando Cemetery No. 2;

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; reflection of the type of local family business that has historically served the Westside community and one that continues to remain in operation;
Tiendita
1403 Saunders

History

The small tiendita appears to have been constructed c. 1910. City directory research indicates that RA and Emilia Laechelin were the property owners in 1911. WC Youree was the property owner in 1924-25, along with Fannie Youree who was identified as a renter. In 1927-28, the first reference specifically to the tiendita is identified as Right Place Grocery, WC Youree owner. This remains the same in the 1929-30 directory. In 1940-41 the tiendita is listed as Trevino Romana Grocery. Beginning in 1951 and continuing through at least 1960, it is identified as Esparza's Grocery Store under Juan Esparza and then Jose Esparza. Esparza Grocery was in operation through at least 1970 based on a newspaper article mentioning an armed robbery and shooting at the store, under the operation of Jose M. Esparza and wife Ofelia (SA Light, Nov. 17, 1970).

Sanborn maps indicate that the tiendita structure was on the site by 1912 (Sanborn Map 1911-1924, vol. 2, 1912, sheet 400). The site is vacant on the 1904 Sanborn. Saunders Street was originally called Matamoras (prior to ca. 1925), and the tiendita was originally addressed as 1401 Matamoras. A 1913 newspaper article identifies 1401 Matamoras as a “butcher outfit” that was for sale (SA Light, Oct. 27, 1913). A 1925 newspaper article mentions that the owner of the grocery store at 1401 Saunders “drove three prospective holdup men from his grocery store in front of his home...” (SA Light, Sept. 3, 1925). The owner was listed as WC Yuerol (although the City Directory of listed his name as Youree).

Architecturally it is significant as a masonry example of a small early 20th century store with rusticated cmu construction and parapet. It appears to have retained original wood sash windows.

Public Comments

- Preserving tienditas such as this one is very important since they represent a vital part of SA heritage.
- Example of tiendita next to owner’s house. Quite typical of era.
- This is a beautiful example of a tiendita. Metal siding looks like pressed tin.
- For the historical flavor it gives the area.

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] a significant example of a tiendita, or small corner store, historically serving local Westside neighborhoods;

Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] a significant example of a small, local early 20th century masonry commercial structure (tiendita) featuring rusticated cmu and parapet;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make if an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] its corner location at Saunders and Brazos within a residential neighborhood that it once would have served;
Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8];

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; distinctive as an architecturally significant tiendita or small corner store that was once a common feature in every Westside neighborhood;

It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12] a significant example (rusticated cmu masonry) of an early 20th century tiendita.
Buena Vista Garden Building
1202 Buena Vista

History

According to research, the building appears to have been constructed ca. 1929-30. The first listing for 1202 Buena Vista in city directories is in 1929-30 under SB Parker. In 1940-41 the property is listed as Buena Vista Gardens (beer). This continues through 1955-56. In 1951 (and 1955-56), a small commercial structure adjoining the building’s west wall is listed as 1201 ½ Buena Vista, Solis Cruz Radio and Television. In 1960, the main building is listed as Recuerdo Club (beer) with Solis Cruz Radio and Television Service remaining next door at 1202 ½.

Sanborn maps indicate the parcel contained a home in 1912. The 1911-1951 Sanborn map indicates the current building footprint and lists it as “Club House.” A filling station was located directly in front of the building at the immediate corner of Buena Vista and S. Colorado.

A 1930 newspaper ad for Nevelow Bros. identifies the Buena Vista Service Station at 1202 Buena Vista (SA Light, May 9, 1930). Various newspaper articles in the 1930s and 40s reference dances and wedding receptions held at the building. In 1938, a newspaper article noted that a free dance would be held and “given by Sheriff Will W. Wood, in behalf of his candidacy for reelection (SA Light, June 28, 1938). In 1966, a newspaper notice mentioned the Buena Vista Club team meeting at 1202 Buena Vista (SA Light, Feb. 27, 1966). In 1974, the property at 1202 Buena Vista is listed as Buena Vista TV in a newspaper ad for Quasar TVs (Express News, Apr. 21, 1974). The east exterior wall of the building along S. Colorado features the mural, “Piedad” (Mercy), re-enacting the crucifixion of Jesus Christ in a contemporary setting. Featured in the mural are images of the scene of a spectacle with media, police officers, a worried mother, and a prophesying priest. The text expresses the emotions portrayed by Jesus Christ: mercy, forgiveness and power in graffiti-modern script. Lead muralist: Ruth Buentello, 2003. (Office of Cultural Affairs, San Antonio Neighborhood Tours, Westside Murals y Mas available at: http://www.saculturaltours.com)

Public Comments

- Popular music venue and commercial.
- An important meeting place for Mexican American social/political organizations as well as an important salon de baile
- Salon - important structure historically and culturally
- Patio Andaluz across street is also significant
- David Blancos artist did a great job!
- Another popular dance venue. It was a gas station at one time also.
- Cultural legacy
- This building was used for wedding receptions, etc.

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] its association as a community beer garden and meeting place for events, receptions, dances, etc. throughout the 20th century;
Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make if an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] its corner location along the busy commercial corridor of Buena Vista Street at Colorado and the striking *Piedad* mural along the building’s east wall;

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; distinctive as an intact example of an early 20th century commercial building that served a variety of commercial and entertainment functions within the Westside community;

It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12] a significant example of an early 20th century commercial building that provided community services and meeting space to the Westside community.
Contreras Ice House
1617 W. Commerce

**History**

Ice houses were once a vital part of every neighborhood. Before refrigeration, blocks of ice were used in ice boxes to extend the life of perishables. Over time, ice house became places to socialize too. There were three ice-manufacturing plants in San Antonio in the 1860s, but many more developed in the later 19th and early 20th centuries.

Contreras Ice House at 1617 W. Commerce Street appears in the 1924-25 City Directory as the Lone Star Ice Company Station, with an address at that time of 2117 W. Commerce. City directory listings continue to identify the site at the Lone Star Ice Company through at least 1941. At that time it was identified as Lone Star Ice Co. Station No. 2. In 1951, the property was identified as the Lone Star Ice Delivery. By 1955 it was known as the Contreras Ice House. On the 1951 Sanborn map, the ice house is identified with its current footprint and a “refrigeration machine” along the west elevation. Contreras Ice House features painting of tuxedo-clad penguin with block of ice (from “Texas Ice Houses Melt Away”, the Kitchen Sisters, NPR available at: [http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=5522825](http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=5522825)).

**Public Comments**

- Provided neighborhood gathering place. Ice houses sold much needed ice before refrigeration.
- If “San Antonio” Mission Revival is original to the building, this is a significant design feature.
- Ice house typical of area – use typical of Westside
- Gotta keep her – especially neon
- Love the penguin. Another essential part of every neighborhood.
- My dad and I used to deliver blocks of ice here and remember it as a friendly cultural spot to meet
- IMPORTANT cultural space
- Great location next to river – typical ice house open for family use.

**Eligibility Criteria**

**Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1]** as a remaining example of an early 20th century ice house, once an important resource and gathering place in every neighborhood;

**Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make if an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7]** its location along the busy commercial corridor of W. Commerce Street making it an accessible local gathering spot;

**Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8]**;

**It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]**; distinctive as a remaining example of an early 20th ice house and local community gathering spot.

**It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12]** a significant remaining example of an early 20th century ice house.
Rinconcito de Esperanza/Ruben's Ice House
816-820 S. Colorado

History

816 S. Colorado Street: Known as “La Casa de Misericordia” (the house of mercy), where in the 1940s, 50s and 60s, Amalia Sanchez opened her home to those in need of food and shelter. Now known as the Casa de Cuentos (House of Stories), the house has been used for the past 10 years by the Esperanza Peace and Justice Center as a hub for the Arte es Vida (Art is Life) Westside Cultural Project. It has been used for oral history gatherings, outdoor film screenings, bookmaking workshops, live performances, and has been host to various artists.

816 S. Colorado St (rear): a 200-square foot house built ca. 1920s is a typical vernacular Westside dwelling. Known as the Casita will soon be restored and will be used as visiting artist quarters.

820 S. Colorado Street: In 1940-41, the City Directory lists Alfredo Muñoz as the inhabitant. From 1948 - 1951, Catarino Hernandez owned the CBH Café at this location. In 1955-56, Antonio L. Jimenez was living at 820 S. Colorado St and at the rear house, lived Walter Twarowski. By 1957 M&E Grocery and Market was located at 824 S. Colorado St. In 1960 Ruben Reyes was listed as the owner of Ruben’s Ice House. In 2007, Esperanza Ctr. acquired Ruben’s with the support of the Reyes children.

Public Comments

- Neighborhood gathering place.
- This is truly El Mero Westside.
- History of supporting the community.
- A slice of life in every Westside neighborhood. So grateful the Esperanza is preserving neighborhood history.
- All 3 buildings at the Rinconcito typify the Latino community.
- Vibrant history
- Excellent tiendita structure w/ history significant to Westside

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] as a complex, the properties are some of the few remaining examples within the block of the mixed residential and commercial structures found in every early 20th century neighborhood; Ruben’s is also reflective of the early 20th century ice houses that were once important community gathering places;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make if an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] its location as some of the only remaining structures within this former residential block and in proximity to the busy commercial corridor of Guadalupe Street;

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; distinctive as a remaining example of an early 20th ice house and local community gathering spot.
It represents a resource, whether natural or man-made, which greatly contributes to the character or image of a defined neighborhood or community [35-607(b)15] as a collection, the properties are some of the only remaining examples within this city block of the types of early 20th century residential and commercial buildings that once made up the area.
Giovanni's
913 S. Brazos

History

Giovanni's Pizzeria and Deli serves fresh, made-to-order entrees and homemade desserts including hand-tossed pizza, fresh calzones and deli sandwiches. Proprietor and head chef John “Giovanni” Gagliano, a Brooklyn, New York native, originally opened the restaurant in El Parian where he taught local youth how to toss pizzas. He moved it in the mid-1990s to its current location, site of an old family grocery store, and backdrop for the Flower Power mural. Formerly, the building housed Courts Food Market. The market provided goods to local residents and was referred to as “Willes” because that was the name of the proprietor, Mr. Hernandez. He and his wife both operated the store. Historic photo available for Courts Market provided by Mr. Hernandez’s grandson, William Hernandez Gonzales. Photo is from 1957 and shows signage on building for Royal Crown Cola, school supplies, and ice cream.

Public Comments

- Original Courts Market next to housing project. Part of commercial corridor.
- Continued use to the community.
- Was Courts Food Mkt (Mr./Mrs. Belen/Guillermo Hernandez) for 50+ years and now Giovanni’s for 21-22 years. David Blanco’s “Guadalupe and La Gloria” mural are on side.
- Reuse of original neighborhood building. Good job, Giovanni!

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] the property remains an actively utilized early 20th century commercial building still serving the needs of the Westside Community though its current use as a pizzeria restaurant;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make if an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] its location just off the busy commercial corridor of Guadalupe Street;

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; distinctive as a remaining example of an early 20th commercial building still serving the Westside community and for its Flower Power mural on the building’s façade;

It represents a resource, whether natural or man-made, which greatly contributes to the character or image of a defined neighborhood or community [35-607(b)15] an intact early 20th century commercial structure continuing to provide service to the Westside community through its current use as a restaurant.
1408 El Paso

**History**

The house at 1408 El Paso was constructed ca. 1912 and is first identified in the City directories in 1912 under the ownership of Jacobo Ribera. By 1914 it was a rental property, and the house continued to be occupied by a variety of tenants until 1927 when it was owned by Abraham Villa. It appears to have remained within the same family under ownership of other Villa family members for a number of years. City directories indicate it was owned by Anselmo Villa through 1946. From 1948 through at least 1965 the house was owned by Eduardo Villa. By 1975 the property had changed to ownership by Noncio Castano.

**Public Comments**

**Eligibility Criteria**

*Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5]* an intact early 20th century bungalow and one of a small number of such homes remaining within this block of El Paso St.;

*Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7]* with the other similar structures on the street, it remains a largely intact block of early 20th century residences, reflective of the types of resources that once comprised the entire surrounding vicinity;

*Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8];*
1412 El Paso

**History**

The late Victorian, one-story wood frame house was built around 1912 and owned by Anselmo & Delmira Villa from 1921-34. Some residents were drivers for Ulmann, Stern & Krausse, a wholesale grocery company. In the 1970s, the federal government took over the land in this block as part of Urban Renewal. The Plaza Guadalupe and the buildings on the same property were then gifted to the City of San Antonio for the purpose of providing a community space for the neighborhood. The Esperanza Peace and Justice Center has been renting 1412 El Paso since 1995. Other residents included: Juan & Celia Almanza, Pablo & Virginia Almanza, Adolfo & Guadalupe Medellin, Mrs. Petra Porillo, Anastacio & Balsa Guerrero, and Augustin & Isable Cantu.

**Public Comments**

- Typical '20s home – great condition – reminder of Westside history of residences

**Eligibility Criteria**

Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] an intact early 20th century Queen Anne style house and one of a small number of such structures remaining within this block of El Paso St.;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] with the other similar structures on the street, it remains a largely intact block of early 20th century residences, reflective of the types of resources that once comprised the entire surrounding vicinity;

Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8];
1426 El Paso

History

The brick house at 1426 El Paso was constructed ca. 1892 and is first identified in a City directory in 1892-93 as the home of August Robin Jr, proprietor of the Clipper Saloon. The property remained under the ownership of August Robin’s widow, Mrs. W.L. Robin, through 1923. Throughout the early 20th century, Robin’s widow also resided with Ed and Joe A. Robin, both identified as dairymen (likely her sons). In 1910, a Miss Lillian Robin also resided there. She was later identified as a renter in 1913 and a music teacher. By 1925, the property was under the ownership of Enrique Olivares, listed as a gardener. In 1931, the property was resided in by Mrs. Angelina Perez and Mrs. Feliciiana Delgado, both widows. By 1935, the home was owned by Francisco Vasquez. In 1936, Mrs. Antonia R. Martinez (widow) was the listed property owner, and the house was also occupied by renters D.R. and Emilia and Antolin (or Antonio) Martinez. The listed owner in 1938 was Mrs. Felicitas Martinez, and she remained the property owner through at least 1951. From 1954 through at least 1972, the property was listed as under the ownership of Pedro Martinez. The property changed ownership several times after 1972. In 1990 it was listed in directories under ownership of the City of San Antonio. Today, the property is owned by the San Antonio Development Agency.

Public Comments

- One of the oldest brick residences in the neighborhood.
- A Native-American organization operated there at one time.

Eligibility Criteria

Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] an intact late 19th century residence, significant as one of the oldest remaining houses within the block and one of the only brick residences in the vicinity; also one of a small number of historic houses remaining within this block of El Paso St.;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] with the other similar structures on the street, it remains part of a largely intact block of early 20th century (and late 19th century) residences, reflective of the types of resources that once comprised the entire surrounding vicinity;

Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8];
107 S. Elmendorf

**History**

The current owner mentioned a write up about the house when it reached 100 years of age. Built in 1910, the house originally faced W. Commerce St. It was later reoriented to front S. Elmendorf. Per the 1911-24 Sanborn (vol. 4, sheet 393), the property featured the existing 2-story house with porches facing W. Commerce Street and an address of 3600-3602 W. Commerce. At that time, the property included a 2-story rear stable, which is no longer standing. The 1951 Sanborn (vol. 4, sheet 393) indicated that the house had been moved further south on the lot and reoriented to face Elmendorf (formerly S. Bandera). It was listed in 1951 with an address of 107 Elmendorf and included a new garage outbuilding and a small one-story rear outbuilding. A self-service filling station was located north of house on the same lot along W. Commerce. The rear stable appeared to have been replaced with a small 2-story dwelling with a porch fronting the alley.

City directories of 1911, 1915, and 1924-25 indicate the property as 3602 W. Commerce, owned by John and Mattie Sutcliffe. He was a stone contractor with yards located at SAP Depot and served as secretary of the SA Builder’s Exchange. The 1927-28 directory lists only John Sutcliffe as the owner. In 1929-30, a Mrs. Augusta Bachle, widow, is the owner of 3602 W. Commerce. The 1940-41 directory lists the property with its new address of 107 S. Elmendorf under the ownership of Mrs. Irene Abrego. The 1955 and 1960 directories indicate Frank Abrego as the owner. There are numerous references in newspaper archives to 107 S. Elmendorf as rental property in the early 1930s (as early as 1931). Therefore, based on this research, the house on the property must have been reoriented to face S. Elmendorf between 1930 and 1931.

**Public Comments**

- Age; architecture; only house of this style in the area. Same builder as several limestone buildings at Fort Sam.
- Built by John Sutcliffe, immigrant from England to SA. Distinctive design. Sutcliffe ran Redondo Tile as owner.
- Too gorgeous not to keep alive.
- Very special structure/has held up well. Built by my great grandparents/was moved to this location from W. Commerce/I have picture of Mattie feeding chickens in her yard here.
- Most beautiful house in area – must be kept for others to enjoy.
- Beautiful architecture.
- I have a book with a chapter in it re: Sutcliffe family history
- The architecture of the house is like no other on that side of town. A prominent pharmacist (Frank Abrego [?]) lived there and raised his family there. Mr. Abrego owned Walter Pharmacy on Culebra (?) and W. Commerce. Since inheriting the house from my parents, I have raised by son and helped raise my 4 grandchildren. I have opened my home to church activities of Divine Redeemer Presbyterian Church for your groups and bible studies. I, as well as the great-grandchildren of John and Mattie Sutcliffe, am very interested in designation of the home as a Historic Landmark.
- Before my father Frank Abrego inherited the house, his mother Irene Reyna Abrego owned it and another at Idaho and Hackberry that she rented out to boarders. She had been an educator in Monterey area but migrated to avoid the Revolution. Starting over as a domestic, she raised 2 sons who inherited these homes for their own families. She worked for the Denman family – prominent attorneys – and strove to raise her family to its former prominence. The architecture, with the round turret, is quite distinctive. Includes a spiral staircase inside the turret and the top floor of the turret was a finished round bedroom.
Eligibility Criteria

Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] a significant example of an early 20th century Queen Anne style home and the only home of this size and scale within the surrounding residential neighborhood;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] the only Queen Anne style home of this size and significance within this residential neighborhood; significant also due it is reorientation on the lot from W. Commerce to the side street of S. Elmendorf;

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; a remaining example of an elaborate early 20th century Queen Anne style home;

It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12] a significant example of the Queen Anne style.
Former Delaware Punch Factory Building
1619 (1623) N. San Marcos

History

Per newspaper ad: “Bottling Plant Contract Awarded….for erection of one-story building….as part of the bottling concern’s expansion program. The building will be 70x160 feet and reinforced concrete, hollow tile, steel, and stucco construction.” 1927, L. Harrington Company, architects and engineers; contractor Blount and Miller (SA Express 1-23-27); per Sanborn map – main two-story building constructed 1925-26 for Delaware Punch Co. of America as their bottling works.

This building was constructed in 1925 for the Delaware Punch Company on a lot adjoining their other one-story building at the corner of San Marcos and Granada (now Culebra). The building contained mixing rooms and offices on the ground floor and laboratories on the 2nd floor. This served as the home plant for the Delaware Punch Company, who by this time had plants all over the United States and in several foreign countries. (SA Express, June 28, 1925). Delaware Punch was “discovered” by chemist Thomas E. Lyons, who began the company in 1913. He named his concoction “Delaware Punch” for Delaware grapes and to appeal to those who wanted a kick (i.e.: alcohol) in their drink, although Delaware Punch was a non-alcoholic soda drink. Lyons began manufacturing Delaware Punch in 1914. At that time it was sold as a concentrate to soda fountain companies and others who actually did the bottling. In 1920, the company began bottling its own product. (SA Light, June 5, 1927). A 1926 newspaper article featured several photos of the interior and exterior of the building (SA Express, June 20, 1926).

Delaware Punch was very successful throughout the United States. Many SA newspapers featured recipes for uses of Delaware Punch (fig preserves, Delaware sweet potatoes, etc.), and Delaware Punch even had a Wednesday night program on WOAI in 1926.

A 1960 newspaper article mentioned that 7-Up bottling of San Antonio was now franchised to bottle Delaware Punch. The building was sold in 1975 to the current owner. It remains a significant example of an early 20th century Spanish Eclectic style industrial and commercial facility.

Public Comments

- Part of Texas beverage history: Dr. Pepper, Big Red, Delaware Punch
- Dr. Pepper/Big Red should see their roots.
- I love Delaware Punch!

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] a significant commercial/industrial building reflecting the early 20th century Spanish Eclectic style and associated for decades with the San Antonio Delaware Punch Company, producers of the soft drink Delaware Punch.
Its identification with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the development of the community, 
county, state, or nation [35-607(b)3] association with Dr. Lyons and the Delaware Punch Company, a very successful 
San Antonio manufacturer of the soda beverage Delaware Punch that was sold across the United States and in several 
other countries throughout much of the 20th century;

Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, 
method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] a significant example of an early 20th century 
industrial/commercial building designed in the Spanish Eclectic style;

Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8]

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic, or 
historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas, or the United States [35-607(b)11] its lengthy association with the San 
Antonio Delaware Punch Company manufacturers of the popular soft drink Delaware Punch.

It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12] a significant example of early 
20th century Spanish Eclectic style institutional architecture.
Fire Station No. 10
1107 (1103) Culebra

History

This fire station was built in 1914 at a cost of $17,396.41. It has fireproof construction with reinforced concrete roof and floors and front brick curtain walls and is a two-part commercial block building with Prairie influence. The second story provided sleeping quarters and meeting area and like Station #9 was considered at the time it was built to be one of the most modern and ornamental firehouses in San Antonio replacing the fire station located at Oak and Milam. It was restored in 1999 with minor alterations. Prairie influences.

Public Comments

- Gorgeous architecture
- Ditto!
- Ditto!
- Services the Westside and is very busy intersection
- Beautiful building – stable and utilitarian – still usable

Eligibility Criteria

Its value as a visible reminder of the cultural heritage of the community, or national event [35-607(b)1] a significant early 20th century fire station reflecting San Antonio’s history of fire fighting and its continued operation as a functioning fire station;

Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] a significant example of an early 20th century fire station reflecting Prairie influences;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] its prominent corner location at the busy commercial intersection of Culebra and Zarzamora;

Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8]

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic, or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas, or the United States [35-607(b)11] Representative of San Antonio’s early fire fighting history and early 20th century Prairie stylistic influences applied to industrial design;

It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12] a significant example of an early 20th century fire station.
Shotgun Houses
1107 Guadalupe Street

History

The two small shotgun houses on Guadalupe Street between Colorado and S. Smith represent some of the remaining vestiges of vernacular housing from the early 20th century that have survived along the commercial corridor. Sanborn maps indicated that by 1951, the small houses were present with the address of 1105 Guadalupe Street. The properties are significant in that they have survived surrounding infill development and the demolition of many former historic age residences in the vicinity. The small shotgun houses along Guadalupe Street serve as a visual reminder of the former residential neighborhood that has largely been razed.

Shotgun houses are one-story, narrow, gable-front residences that are one room wide and several rooms deep, with no interior hallways. This became a prevalent southern urban housing form in the late 19th and early 20th centuries. The narrow homes were well suited to narrow city lots. (McAlester, Virginia and Lee. A Field Guide to American Houses. Alfred A. Knopf, NY 1997). These were simple and inexpensive to construct. Shotgun houses are a rapidly diminishing housing type throughout the inner city of San Antonio.

Public Comments

- Scale. (?) form
- Shotgun houses such as these reflect Westside working class history/heritage. We need to remember how poor people struggled!
- Shotguns typical and no longer preserved in many areas.
- Shotguns are disappearing and this is a nice sample.
- As growing up in the Westside of San Antonio and driving to school it is a reminder one is (?) entering in the area from the bridge by downtown and it is a landmark to the area.
- Inexpensive housing. A lot of homes started as such and were added on to, including mine.
- Reminiscent of the living conditions facing Latinos. The lots had a 25’ front. Unbelievably small.
- Importance cultural and historic relics.
- As a reminder to the past and poor – shotgun houses must be preserved and used in creative ways.

Eligibility Criteria

Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials [35-607(b)5] a collection of intact early 20th century shotgun houses, once a prevalent housing type but increasingly disappearing;

Its unique location or singular physical characteristics that make it an established or familiar visual feature [35-607(b)7] as an intact collection of early 20th century shotgun homes along the busy commercial corridor of Guadalupe Street and part of the “gateway” into the Westside;
Its historical and architectural integrity of location, design, materials, and workmanship [35-607(b)8];

It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States [35-607(b)11]; remaining examples of early 20th century shotgun houses once common vernacular worker housing found through San Antonio’s Westside and other inner city neighborhoods;

It is an important example of a particular architectural type or specimen [35-607(b)12] a significant remaining collection of intact shotgun houses that reflect the vernacular residences of the early 20th century Westside and other inner city San Antonio working-class neighborhoods.